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The First Congregational Church of Ripon, built between 1865 and 1868, embodies 
characteristics of the Romanesque Revival style. It is sited on a high point 
in the city of Ripon and is one of the city's major landmarks. In plan, 
the stone church is composed of a large, rectangular nave, a spired tower 
projecting at the southeast corner and housing the vestibule, and a small, 
polygonal apse on the west wall.

There are six structural bays on the side walls of the church. Inside, six
ribs springing from pendent posts span the three-planed ceiling. On the exterior
there are narrow structural buttresses at each truss location.

The church is built of rough cut, random length coarsed ashlar limestone. 
Hoodmolds at the doors and windows are of smooth finished limestone, with 
hand carved details. All stone is local.

Cornices on the church are sharply defined with an arched corbel table. The 
corbelling is repeated at the cornices on the tower. Further embellishment 
on the tower consists of corner piers, paired round-arched windows, and 
round-arched vents at the belfry. A spire with clocks at four facets of the 
base tops the belfry, and a metal cross tops the spire.

The facade of the church has some interesting details, notably a stylized 
Palladian window to the east of the center entry. This entrance has a segmental 
arch in contrast to the round arches on all other openings. A large, round- 
arched window pierces the wall above the entrance.

A notable interior feature is the round-arched opening to the apse, embellished 
with wood moulding and details. The back wall of the apse is pierced by a 
stained glass window. There are two sets of pews, each attached from the 
front to the rear by a continuous partition. Interior walls are plastered, 
and woodwork at the choir stalls, doorways, and ceiling is well proportioned 
and Grafted.

In 1952 a wing was built onto the west and south sides of the church. The 
addition houses classrooms, a chapel, and a lounge. In 1969 an addition 
was built on the south side of the church. This houses offices and a pastor's 
study. The additions are low and extend from the least prominent aspects 
of the church; they are not obtrusive.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The First Congregational Church of Ripon is significant to the area's 
history and possesses architectural significance as well. The building 
is the second edifice of a congregation that was associated with the 
anti-slavery movement, the formation of the Republican Party, the 
establishment of Ripon College, and the development of the city of 
Ripon. The congregation and its activities are historically interesting 
In that they reflect the New England congregationalist traditions 
and the reformist social consciousness that large numbers of "yankee" 
settlers from New England and the "burned-over district" of upstate 
New York brought with them to Wisconsin. The building is of architectural 
significance as a notable work of the important Milwaukee architect 
Edward Townsend Mix and is an excellent interpretation of the Romanesque 
Revival style as applied to churches in the mid-nineteenth century. 
Although additions have been made to the rear of the building, the 
main part of the structure is little altered from the time when it was 
built. Sited on a high elevation in the city, the church is a dominant 
visual landmark; the spire is visible for miles as one approaches 
Ripon from any direction.

HISTORY The First Congregational Society of Ripon, the first church 
organized in the village, was formed in 1850, with its members mainly 
of old yankee stock. The first permanent settlement of the village 
had occurred several years before as a neighboring rival settlement 
to the Utopian socialist Ceresco Fourierist colony. Other than the 
membership of William Dunham, who was a member of the colony and later 
a member of the church, there appears to have been little connection 
between the two. Nevertheless, the Congregational Church reflected 
the desire for moral and social improvement that many yankees brought 
to the midwest. Early in its history, members of the congregation 
became involved in the formation of the Republican Party and took 
a strong stand in favor of the abolition of slavery. In 1854 the 
original edifice of the congregation was the scene of the first of 
the "Bovay meetings;" at that meeting the citizens of Ripon "remonstrate[d] 
against the [Kansas-] Nebraska [Bill] swindle." The Bovay meetings 
led to the founding of the Republican Party in Ripon in succeeding 
months. William Dunham, then a trustee of the church, was moderator 
of the first Bovay meeting . During the period the congregation, itself, 
went on record in opposition to the Missouri Compromise and the Kansas- 
Nebraska Act. (Pedrick & Miller, 1964: 107) One charter member, 
Francis Strong was an early and strident abolitionist in the Ripon

1. Samuel M. Pedrick, History of the First Congregational Church of Ripon, 
Wisconsin 1850-1950, p. 14.

2. ibid. p.T3(continued)
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8. SIGNIFICANCE continued

area. In a resolution of January 19, 1856, the congregation voted 
"that it will not fellowship slaveholders, nor admit them to our 
communion." (Pedrick, 1950:9)

From its earliest history, the church has been informally associated 
with Ripon College. The school originally was named Brockway College, 
for William Brockway, an early trustee of the church who contributed 
heavily for the construction of the college's first building. Throughout 
its early years the college depended heavily for support upon the 
Winnebago Convention of Presbyterian and Congregational Churches, of 
which the First Congregational Church of Ripon was an important and 
active member. Since that time, the relationship between the college 
and the church has been cooperative. In the nineteenth century the 
church provided scholarships for needy students, and from 1921 to 1949 
the church auditorium was used as the college chapel. (Pedrick, 1950:66-72)

The church's tradition of social responsibility has continued since 
it took its stand against slavery. The church respected the leadership 
abilities of women, and as early as 1896 two women were elected to the 
Board of Trustees. In 1949 the church sponsored the immigration of 
more that eighty displaced persons., mostly from Latvia. Several of 
these people still reside in Ripon and are members of the church.

The building being nominated is the second edifice constructed by the 
congregation. The first, a small single-story frame Greek Revival 
structure built in 1853, is no longer extant. Shortly after completion, 
the congregation began to outgrow it. In 1857 the congregation voted 
to enlarge the structure, and in the following year the construction 
of a new edifice altogether was suggested. It was not until December 
1864, however, that the congregation employed Edward Townsend Mix 
to prepare plans for the new edifice. In February 1868 the bail ding 
was dedicated. (Pedrfrefc* 1950: 8-9, 13-15)

ARCHITECTURE According to Perrin, the name of E.T. Mix appears very 
frequently "in connection with Milwaukee's earlier architecture, and 
particularly its finest church work" (Perrin, 1968: 15). Born in 1831 
in New Haven, Connecticut, Mix spent his youth on a farm in Illinois 
and later in New York City. In 1848, he began working as an assistant 
for Major Sidney Stone in New Haven (Stone was one of the earliest Ameri­ 
can professional architects; he studied under Ithiel Town) (Withey, 1956: 57

(continued)
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8. SIGNIFICANCE continued

Mix moved to Chicago in 1855 where he entered the office of W.W. Boyington 
as its foreman. In 1856, he moved to Milwaukee as a partner in the firm 
to supervise some projects, and in 1857 he began his own practice 
in Milwaukee. Besides designing many of Milwaukee's and the state's 
major buildings during his 32 year career in Milwaukee, Mix also 
served as the state architect from 1864-1867, was an active member 
of the New York Institute of Architects, was president of the Wisconsin 
Architectural League from 1888-1890 and was elected a fellow of the 
A. I. A. in 1873. In 1886, he joined in partnership with W.A. Holbrook 
and in 1889 moved to Minneapolis, where he died the following year.

Other churches designed by Mix include St. Paul's Episcopal (NRHP), 
Immanuel Presbyterian (NRHP), and All Saints' Cathedral (NRHP), all 
in Milwaukee, First Methodist Church in Monroe (NRHP), and St. Luke's 
Episcopal Church in Racine (currently being nominated^.

First Congregational Church in Ripon is an excellent example of Mix's 
mastery of church design. It shares with many of Mix's other churches 
a dominating front tower and a wide nave sheltered by a unifying 
gable. It has suffered few alterations through the years and is 
among Ripon 's finest remaining churches. Grace Church (NRHP) is 
a fine example of the frame Carpenter Gothic, the American Legion 
Post represents the Greek Revival church form, and the neighboring 
German Lutheran Church is a good example of the simple German Gothic 
Revival church executed in birck. First Congregational is an excellent 
representation of the Romanesque Revival style, with its round-arched 
windows and heavy stonework. Situated on a high point overlooking 
dowtown Ripon, its tower can be seen for miles and is a dominating visual 
landmark in the community.
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